# THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA No. SC03-648 MERYL MCDONALD

Appellant,

versus

## JAMES V. CROSBY Secretary, Florida Department of Corrections

Respondent/Appellee.

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN W. JENNINGS Capital Collateral Regional Counsel Middle Region

> PETER CANNON Assistant CCRC Fla. Bar No. 109710

## I. Preliminary Statement

This appeal involves the appeal of the circuit court=s denial of Mr. McDonald=s motion for postconviction relief pursuant to Fl.R.Crim.P. 3.851, et.seq.

The following will be used to designate references to the record.

AT@.....Trial Transcript

APP@....Penalty Phase Hearing

AR@.....Record on Direct Appeal

AHH@....Addendum Transcript

#### VI. Statement of the Case and Facts

#### A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below

The Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit, Pinellas County, Florida, pursuant to its sentencing order (R. 2526-43) entered the judgment and sentence on November 16, 1995. (R.2544-46).

On April 27, 1994, an indictment was amended making Mr. McDonald one of five people indicted for the murder of Dr. Stevenson. (R. 1-2). On October 13, 1994, Mr. McDonald was taken into custody in the State of New York by Pinellas County, Florida, law enforcement officers and was returned to the State of Florida October 27, 1994. His plea of not guilty was filed November 22, 1994. (R. 436) On December 16, 1994, in open court, his trial date was set beyond his speedy trial period. (R.462).

A joint trial of Mr. McDonald and Robert Gordon was held from June 6, 1995 through June 15, 1995. The jury returned a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree as to both Mr. McDonald and Mr. Gordon. (R. 2362-64) A penalty phase proceeding was held on June 16, 1995, after which the jury recommended the death penalty by a majority vote of 9 to 3. (R.2402) The jury was not sworn before voir dire began.(TT, 16-18).

On direct appeal, the sentence and conviction were affirmed. *McDonald v. State*, 743 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1999).

#### B. Post-Conviction Proceedings

Mr. McDonald was originally represented by the Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Middle (hereinafter CCRC-M) for post-conviction purposes. CCRC-M prepared a Motion to Vacate for Mr. McDonald. Mr. McDonald, however, refused to verify the motion. CCRC-M then filed the unverified motion on December 11, 200. Mr. McDonald, pursuant to Fl.R.Crim.P. 3.850 and 3.851 filed his own motion on December 15, 2000. CCRC-M filed a certification of conflict and motion to withdraw and for appointment of conflict free counsel. At a hearing on the motion on January 30, 2001, the court determined that there was no legal conflict. The ultimate result of the hearing was that both motions were struck. On January 31, 2001, Mr. McDonald partially agreed to swear to the motion which was subsequently filed on February 2, 2001 in which the court accepted nunc pro tunc to December 11, 2000. However, on or about March 2, 2001, Mr. McDonald filed the Defendants Motion to Remove Conflict Counsel, and to Strike Counsel, and for Self-Representation. At a hearing held April 18, 2001, the court granted Mr. McDonald the right to represent himself after a Faretta inquiry pursuant to Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).

The court allowed Mr. McDonald to withdraw the motion filed by CCRC-M and reinstated his previously stricken pro se motion and appointed CCRC-M as standby counsel. The oral order of April 18, 2001 was filed May 18, 2001.

On June 14, 2001, the State filed its response and exhibits. Thereafter, on July 16, 2001, Mr. McDonald filed a motion to amend and Supplement his motion. The court then ordered a Huff hearing pursuant to *Huff v. State*, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993) and held the hearing on July 25, 2001. Without objection, the court allowed Mr. McDonald to supplement his original motion and to proceed on his supplemental 3.850 postconviction relief motion. At the Huff hearing, Mr. McDonald waived issues 2 and 10. The court granted a hearing as to issues 6, 11, 12, and 14 but summarily denied issues 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8 through 13, 15, 16 and supplemental claim 1 as to knowingly using false DNA evidence. The evidentiary hearing was held on November 29 and 30, 2001.

During the hearing but just prior to the commencement of the evidentiary hearing, Mr. McDonald sought to depose FBI agents Michael Vick, Chris Allen and Audrey Lynch in order to inquire about the fraud committed on the court by agents Vick and Allen relating to DNA and hair analysis. In addition, Mr. McDonald sought to inquire about the June 13, 1994 lab report of agent Lynch, and to find out what part each of the agents played concerning DNA evidence. At the commencement of the evidentiary hearing the court denied the requests to depose agents. The court also urged CCRC-M to provide Mr. McDonald with previously received documents which were previously not provided to him.

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing the court stated that it did not want to

hear closing arguments but would accept written closing arguments. On February 10, 2003, the court denied Mr. McDonald motion for postconviction relief. Timely notice of appeal was filed on March 6, 2003.

As a result of Mr. McDonald=s pro-se representation, all mitigation and other penalty phase issues were waived as well as numerous guilt phase issues.<sup>1</sup>

#### C. Proceedings before this Court

After the denial of Mr. McDonald=s post-conviction motion, the Circuit Court of Pinellas County appointed the Office of the Public Defender to file the post-conviction brief on behalf of Mr. McDonald, in violation of Chapter 27. In September, the circuit court appointed CCRC-M to file the brief in Mr. McDonald=s case, only one month prior to the due date of the brief. After the appointment, Mr. McDonald filed numerous pleadings before this court in an attempt to have CCRC-M again removed from his case. This Court requested briefing on this issue from the State as well as from CCRC-M.<sup>2</sup> This Court denied Mr. McDonald=s motion to proceed *pro se* and appointed CCRC-M to file the instant brief.

#### VII. Brief Statement of Facts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Several guilt phase issues which were identified by this court in its direct appeal opinion were waived by Mr. McDonald. *See infra*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In addition to the arguments filed by CCRC-M, current counsel also sought to have this Court relinquish jurisdiction and remand this case back to the circuit court where a full and fair evidentiary hearing could be completed. CCRC-M renews this motion in a separate pleading.

#### A. Facts Introduced at Trial and Sentencing

The facts introduced in the trial of this case have previously set forth by this Court in *Gordon v. State*, 704 So.2d 107, 108-10 (Fla 1998). By way of summary, the victim, Dr. Louis A. Davidson was found murdered in his St. Petersburg apartment on January 25, 1994. He and his wife were involved in a bitter dissolution of marriage which involved the custody of a minor child. Shortly after the discovery of his body, the St. Petersburg police department placed his wife, Denise Davidson, who resided in Tampa, under 24 hour surveillance. As the result of that action, the police obtained copies of Western Union money transfers from Mrs. Davidson made primarily to Mr. Gordon. Telephone intercepts and cell phone records obtained by warrant primarily linked to others and Mr. Gordon. The police obtained various motel registrations placing Mr. McDonald and Mr. Gordon and others in Tampa at various times prior to and including the day of the homicide. None of the evidence introduced placed Mr. McDonald at the scene of the homicide.

The conviction of Mr. McDonald was obtained almost exclusively from false DNA evidence, false hair and fiber evidence, tampering with a grey sweatshirt and from the testimony of Susan Shore. There was absolutely no fingerprint, hair fibers or any other physical evidence from Mr. McDonald at the crime scene. There was no testimonial evidence placing Mr. McDonald in the apartment of the victim, including that of Susan Shore.

Neither defendant testified in their own defense and neither counsel neglected to present any evidence or put on any defense. During the penalty phase, Mr.

McDonald presented only one penalty phase witness. At the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury recommended death by a vote of 9 to 3.

Of the three remaining individuals indicted for the murder, Denise Davidson was convicted and sentenced to life. Susan Shore entered into a plea agreement in exchange for her testimony and Leo Cisneros remains at large.

#### B. Facts Introduced at the Evidentiary Hearing

Mr. McDonald proceeding pro se and against the advice of counsel, presented the transcribed testimony of Dr. Renee Herrera from the Robert Gordon hearing, the entire recently released FBI documents and himself.

Dr. Renee Herrera, an associate professor at the department of biological sciences at Florida International University was permitted by the court at the evidentiary hearing<sup>3</sup> to offer his opinion as an expert in the field of DNA population genetics and molecular biology. He testified that he had reviewed the trial testimony of FBI agent Michael Vick who was the states DNA expert at trial. (TT, 1214). Dr. Herrera also went to the FBI facilities in Quantico, Virginia, so he could analyze and inspect materials not previously provided. Included in the documentation the lab

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As argued in Mr. McDonald=s petition for habeas corpus, Mr. McDonald was not allowed to obtain the services of an expert DNA witness. The testimony of Dr. Herrera is from Mr. Gordon=s evidentiary hearing.

possessed, including the data used by the FBI to generate probabilities. The expert identified certain issues of concern which included that the probabilities generated were not Arobust@but far below the current standards of expectation; that only three of the four slides gave usable numbers; and that the location of the bands of the materials used could have been compromised by multiple donations. He also opined that since the victim was of mixed racial origin, the calculations could contain uncertainty up to two orders of magnitude in either direction. Subgroups or substructures was another area of concern to Dr. Herrera due to the controversy within the scientific community as to their effect on population frequency calculations. He opined that, because of all of the issues that existed in this case, the testimony of agent Vick would not have been accepted in the general scientific community. At this stage of the hearing, the court acknowledged its own concern over the substructure issue. A final area of concern was that the testimony of agent Vick implied that he had actually performed the testing. Dr. Herrera opined, however, that other individuals conducted the tests.

At the conclusion of Dr. Herrera=s testimony, the state was permitted to call Dr. Martin Tracey, also a professor of biological sciences at Florida International University. At the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Tracey testified that he too had reviewed the trial testimony of agent Vick but found no irregularities. Dr. Tracey agreed with Dr. Herrera that evidence is more compelling when the odds are less frequent. He also testified that agent Vick=s presentation of the ratio=s with each of the three major

groups was consistent with the 1992 NRC recommendation. He acknowledged that these three groups would not apply to the victim. Dr. Tracey also agreed with Dr. Herrera that the missing bands would have made the bands unusable. When Dr. Tracey was questioned about the number of probes, Dr. Tracey admitted that from 1990 through 1995, the industry standard was four probes. He admitted that when these tests were performed in the instant case, the FBI was only using three probes because the fourth probe was not giving interpretable results.

Mr. McDonald presented himself as a witness and testified that he had provided his defense team with the names and addresses of potential alibi witnesses. He also testified that he maintained his innocence to his defense team and detectives. Mr. McDonald testified that upon meeting Mr. Schwartzburg, he told his attorney that he had been in West Palm beach at the time of the murder with an exotic dancer named Tina. He gave the location of the club and the time when Tina was working. He gave this same information to Mr. Watts and the defense investigator Mr. Hitchcox whom Mr. McDonald met one time in December of 1994. Mr. McDonald also testified that he gave his attorney the names of Everton Miller and Eli Ellison who saw Mr. McDonald in Miami on January 24 at 8:30 pm. He also told his attorney that he did not meet Ms. Shore until January 28, three days after the crime occurred.

Mr. McDonald testified that at no time did either of his attorneys discuss the physical evidence in the states possession or the existence of the states expert, Michael

Vick. The first time Mr. McDonald was aware of agent Vick was when the witness took the stand. The same was true for Chris Allen and William Bodziak. Mr. McDonald testified that he was not informed about the progress of his case, the witnesses in his case and whether any witnesses would be called on his behalf. Finally, none of the physical evidence against Mr. McDonald was discussed with him.

Mr. McDonald was questioned by the state about his alibi witnesses and the motion to sever which was withdrawn by his attorney without Mr. McDonald sconsent. Mr. McDonald testified that at no time was he with a meeting with Mr. Schwartburg, Mr. Gordon and Mr. Love. He also testified that Mr. Schwartberg told him that he would proceed to trial without calling any witnesses and felt that the state did not have a strong case.

Mr. McDonald also testified that he requested a severance from Mr. Gordon because of the different arrest dates which would have effected Mr. McDonalds speedy trial times. At no time, did either attorney discuss trial preparation or strategy and that he was unfamiliar with his rights.

Mr. Schwartzberg then testified and stated he did not recall Mr. McDonald telling him about an alibi. Mr. Schwartzberg testified that he took extensive notes every time he met with Mr. McDonald but could not, at this time, present those notes to substantiate his claim regarding the alibi witness. Much of Mr. Schwartzbergs testimony was fraught with his inability to remember key conversations with his client.

Mr. Schwartberg testified that he had filed a demand for discovery which was complied with on December 8, 1994. Mr. Schwartberg did not file a motion to compel because he had felt that all discovery regarding the FBI analysis was turned over to him. He testified that he was unable to say when those reports were received. However, through the postconvition process, it was submitted that the FBI documents were never released until June of 2000.(Exhibit B).

Mr. Schwartberg admitted reviewing the statements of Clair Dobb and Virginia Ferguson who positively identified Susan Shore at the Days Inn wearing a grey sweatshirt and tennis shoes. Further, he admits that Susan Shore stated such in her deposition. Further, Mr. Schwartzberg admitted that the only tennis shoes purchased on Denise Davidson credit card were for a small sized women—s shoe. He also testified that he was unaware about when much of the physical evidence was sent to the FBI for testing.

Counsel testified that this was the second DNA case he had litigated and that had he not been prepared he would have moved for a continuance. The court reminded Mr. Schwartzberg that he had indeed moved for a continuance which was denied. Counsel further testified that he did not challenge the DNA evidence in this case because he felt that it was beneficial to his defense even though he admitted that the evidence used had been lost or destroyed.

Mr McDonald attempted to question counsel about the reason for not

challenging the DNA evidence under Frye. Counsel testified that if challenged, a Frye hearing would be required. At this point, the court interjected and stated:

Mr. McDonald, I will tell you that I probably have tried more cases than any judge in this circuit, and I have never had a Frye test being requested to keep DNA out. Ever. And the reason for that is because its fairly much futile, and most lawyers don# want to waste the time. That#s number one. And number two, you#ve already heard your lawyer say he didn# consider it harmful in your particular case. And I presume the reason for that is, by having sat through the case, is because the testimony of Susan Shore put your client clearly at the compound.

When questioned about his theory of the case, Mr. Counsel testified that it was one of Mr. McDonald being framed. He could not recall how much time was used to discuss the theory of defense with his client.

When questioned about the FBI reports, counsel testified that he received the reports from the FBI witnesses. He admitted that he never reviewed reports from agent Vick or any notes from agent Vick nor did he know who prepared the June 22, 1994 report which indicated a DNA match of the victim He also admitted that he never reviewed a June 13, 1994 lab report and reviewing case sheet of agent Audrey Lynch which indicated that no DNA match was ever found on the sweatshirt. He admitted that he never deposed agent Vick nor called any expert witness regarding the DNA evidence.

Counsel was then questioned regarding the speedy trial issue. Counsel admitted

that he never waived speedy trial and was not present when the trial of Mr. Gordon and Ms. Davidson was continued from January 24, 1995 to June 6, 1995. He admitted that he was familiar with Fl.R.Crim.P. 3.191 and that the rule applied to Mr. McDonald. When asked why he never filed a notice of expiration or motion for discharge, counsel stated AI can=t answer that question. I don=t know.@. The court then attempted to rehabilitate Mr. Schwartzberg with repeated questions.

#### VIII. Brief Statement of the Law

The past few years have witnessed a subtle but tremendous change in the United States Supreme Courts jurisprudence as it relates to mitigation in death penalty cases. Under the old standards announced in *Strickland*, 4 very little could be argued on post-conviction if the trial attorney invoked the protective shield of Astrategy. Today, many of the old notions of Astrategy are gone. Beginning with *Williams v*. *Taylor*, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), through *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S 510 (2003) to this most recent terms decision in *Florida v. Nixon*, 125 S.Ct. 551 (2004), the concept of mitigation has become more broad and more inclusive than ever before. The duty to fully and thoroughly investigate facts must be done before an attorney can claim that he did not present certain mitigation as part of his trial strategy. *Wiggins*. Strategic reasons to not present certain mitigation because possible unfavorable evidence may surface as a result is no longer reasonable and constitutes deficient performance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

Williams. Failure to investigate mitigation because of the clients demands is no longer acceptable. *Hamblin v. Mitchell*, 354 F.3d 482 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003), *cert. denied*, 125 S.Ct. 344 (2004). Finally, an attorneys claim that he or she would simply not have presented that particular mitigation to the jury is now deficient performance. *Williams*.

The scope of mitigation has also been defined, or more appropriately, returned to its original definition. The United States Supreme Court in *Tennard v. Dretke*, 124 S.Ct. 2562 (2004) and *Smith v. Texas*, 125 S.Ct. 400 (2004) reiterated that mitigation must be defined Ain the most expansive terms@, rejecting state court attempts to create a Anexus@ of mitigation to the crime or a threshold of relevance beyond Aany fact that is of consequence@ which a fact-finder may Adeem to have mitigating value@. This Alow threshold of relevance@ fully incorporates the necessity to conduct a complete biopsychosocial history of the accused, including past family history. Thus, Avirtually no limits are placed on the relevant mitigating evidence a capital defendant may introduce concerning his own circumstances.@

With the Supreme Court=s decision in *Wiggins*, the importance of the *ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases*(2003) cannot be emphasized enough. Recently, in the Supreme Court=s *Nixon*decision, the Court utilized the newest 2003 Guidelines **and** the Commentary in

granting the State of Florida=s appeal from a 1984 trial. With the adoption of the *ABA* 

Guidelines, Wiggins is now applicable to all stages of Florida=s trifurcated capital trial.

This Court has been busy as well in the area of prosecutorial misconduct. Two recent cases underscore the this Courts concern over non-disclosure of evidence by the State. In both *Mordenti v. State*, 2004 WL 2922134 (Fla.), and *Floyd v. State*, 2005 WL 673689 (Fla.), the this Court reversed capital convictions based on *Brady* violations. While this Court worked within existing state and federal constitutional law, the Courts application of the prejudice prong of *Brady* appears to be a more expansive threshold than previously used. For example in *Mordenti*, the Court found two main *Brady* violations and, in *Floyd*, one. These violations were analyzed against a myriad of evidence presented and upheld on direct appeal. The *Floyd* court went so far as to turn a direct evidence case, with a confession, a bloody sock and possession of the decedents stolen property, to a circumstantial case.

However, most troubling in this case is the failure of the circuit court to do an adequate job in protecting Mr. McDonald-s rights when it allowed him to proceed prose. When a defendant who is entitled to counsel elects to waive that right and self-represent, the judge must inform the defendant of the risks inherent to self-representation and make an inquiry sufficient to determine whether the defendant's waiver of counsel is being made knowingly and intelligently. *See Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975); *Traylor v. State*, 596 So.2d 957, 968 (Fla.1992); *Wilson v. State*, 724 So.2d 144, 145 (Fla. 1st

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