IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MERYL S. McDONALD,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC03-648
L.T. No. CRC94-02958-CFANO-B

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON POST-CONVICTION APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0327832
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Although a defendant need not himself have the skill and experience of a lawyer in order competently and intelligently to choose self-representation, he should be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will establish that "he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open."

The ultimate test is not the trial court's express advice, but rather the defendant's understanding. In Rogers v. Singletary, 698 So. 2d 1178, 1180-1181 (Fla. 1996), this Court found that the Faretta standards were met because the record established that Rogers knew what he was doing and his choice was made with eyes open. In this case, the Circuit Court expressly addressed the disadvantages of self-representation and the record establishes that McDonald "knew what he was doing and his choice was made with eyes open." Thus, the Circuit Court's decision to allow McDonald to represent himself should be upheld.

ISSUE II

THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING JURY SELECTION AND CCRC'S IAC/JURY SELECTION CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED. (As restated by Appellee, State)

Standard of Review

"To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or the record must conclusively refute them." Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1041 (Fla. 2000). Further, as this Court explained in LeCroy v. Dugger, 727 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 1998):

A motion for postconviction relief can be denied without an evidentiary hearing when the motion and the record conclusively demonstrate that the movant is entitled to no relief. A defendant may not simply file a motion for postconviction relief containing conclusory allegations that his or her trial counsel was ineffective and then expect to receive an evidentiary hearing. The defendant must allege specific facts that, when considering the totality of the circumstances, are not conclusively rebutted by the record and that demonstrate a deficiency on the part of counsel which is detrimental to the defendant.

<u>LeCroy</u>, 727 So. 2d at 239 (quoting <u>Kennedy v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989)).

Procedural Bar

McDonald's IAC/jury selection claim in the Circuit Court was based on three grounds: (1) trial counsel allegedly failed to protect the defendant from biased jurors, (2) trial counsel failed to object to the alleged failure to place the juror's

under oath before *voir dire*, and (3) the juror questionnaires allegedly were not available to trial counsel. The Circuit Court summarily denied post-conviction relief on McDonald's three-part IAC/jury selection claim, addressing McDonald's identified jury selection complaints in a detailed written order. (PCR V13/2297-2301).

Now, CCRC asserts another IAC/jury selection claim: trial counsel allegedly failed to adequately challenge the racial composition of the jury venire. (Amended Initial Brief of Appellant at 33). CCRC's current claim, that trial counsel was ineffective for allegedly failing to adequately challenge the racial composition of the jury venire, was not raised by McDonald in the Circuit Court; therefore, this issue is procedurally barred. See, Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Furthermore, the three-part IAC/jury selection claim which McDonald presented to the Circuit Court has not been raised by CCRC in this appeal. Accordingly, the IAC/jury selection claim which was raised below, but not asserted here is abandoned. See Sireci v. State, 773 So. 2d 34, 41 (Fla. 2000), citing Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 218 n. 6 (Fla. 1999).

IAC/racial composition of the jury venire

CCRC's current IAC/jury selection claim, that trial counsel allegedly failed to adequately challenge the racial composition

of the jury venire, is procedurally barred. <u>Steinhorst</u>. Even if CCRC's claim is properly before this Court, which the State strongly disputes, McDonald still is not entitled to any relief.

On direct appeal, this Court held that both McDonald and his co-defendant, Gordon, "failed to refute the trial court's finding that jury members were randomly selected by computer and there was no evidence that blacks had been systematically excluded from the jury selection process." McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 503 (Fla. 1999), citing Gordon v. State, 704 So. 2d 107, 111-12 (Fla. 1997).

In co-defendant Gordon's post-conviction appeal, Gordon v. State, 863 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 2003) [Gordon II], this Court rejected a claim which is virtually identical to the claim now asserted by CCRC, i.e., that trial counsel did not effectively challenge the racial composition of the jury venire. In Gordon II, this Court stated, in pertinent part:

Gordon argues that the trial court erred in summarily denying his claim that trial counsel was ineffective in not effectively challenging the all-white venire from which his jury was selected. The standard for establishing a prima facie violation of the Sixth Amendment's fair cross-section requirement is set forth in Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357, 58 L. Ed. 2d 579, 99 S. Ct. 664 (1979):

(1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a "distinctive" group in the community; (2) that the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community; and (3) that this

underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process.

at 364. Because Gordon has not initially established a prima facie showing in his motion that black people were systematically excluded from the selection process, his claim was properly summarily denied by the trial court. In other words, Gordon has not set out in his motion a proper claim on the merits on this issue that counsel could have advanced. See Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 699 (Fla. 1998) (holding that trial court did not err in summarily denying claim where the petitioner "made no showing at trial or in postconviction motion that blacks are systematically excluded from venires in St. Johns County"). Accordingly, we deny Gordon relief on this claim.

Gordon, 863 So. 2d at 1218

The IAC/jury selection claim now relied upon by CCRC was not presented to the trial court below and, therefore, is procedurally barred. Moreover, as evidenced by the above-quoted ruling by this Court in <u>Gordon</u> II, even if McDonald had relied upon the *pro forma* claim like that of co-defendant Gordon, summary denial of this identical claim would have been appropriate, once again. See, <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 707 So. 2d 688, 699 (Fla. 1998).

ISSUE III

THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S IAC/PROSECUTOR COMMENT CLAIM AND CCRC'S IAC/PROSECUTOR COMMENT CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED. (As restated by Appellee, State)

Procedural Bar

In the Circuit Court, McDonald alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a purportedly improper closing argument by the prosecutor, specifically that (1) McDonald knew where the murder weapon was and (2) McDonald came out of the victim's apartment by himself. Now, CCRC asserts a different ground: that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the prosecutor's closing argument concerning the pain and suffering felt by the victim. (Amended Initial Brief of Appellant at 39-42).

CCRC admits that the current IAC/prosecutor comment claim now asserted on appeal was not raised in the Circuit Court below. (Amended Initial Brief of Appellant at 42). Accordingly, this issue is procedurally barred. See, <u>Gordon</u>, II (holding that "[B]ecause the aforementioned guilt phase prosecutorial comment is the only one raised in Gordon's postconviction motion, it is the only one properly before this Court.")

⁸ On direct appeal, this Court determined that the prosecutor's closing argument, although perilously close to a "golden rule" violation, did not constitute fundamental error. See, <u>McDonald</u>, 743 So. 2d at 505 and n. 9.

Additionally, the IAC/prosecutor comment claim which was raised by McDonald in the Circuit Court has not been asserted in this post-conviction appeal and, therefore, is deemed abandoned. See, Sireci, supra.

Summary Denial of IAC/prosecutor comment claim

Assuming, arguendo, that either CCRC's IAC/prosecutor comment claim or McDonald's pro se IAC/prosecutor claims are properly before this Court, which the State specifically denies and strenuously disputes, summary denial of post-conviction relief is appropriate in each case.

First, the comments concerning the victim's suffering which are now relied upon by CCRC were addressed by this Court on direct appeal in McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 n.9 (Fla. 1999). There, this Court determined that the prosecutor's comments, taken both individually and collectively, neither rose to the level of fundamental error nor so tainted the jury's verdict so as to warrant a new penalty phase. See, McDonald, 743 So. 2d at 505. Post-conviction proceedings cannot be used as means to obtain a second appeal of issues raised on direct appeal. Rodriguez v. State, 2005 Fla. LEXIS 1169 (Fla. 2005). Additionally, this Court does not consider procedurally barred claims under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id.

Second, in ruling on the two-part IAC/prosecutor comment claim which was raised below (that McDonald knew where the murder weapon was and that McDonald came out from the victim's apartment by himself), the Circuit Court found that McDonald's counsel was not deficient for failing to object to the prosecutor's closing argument, which the defense had invited. Additionally, McDonald could not demonstrate any prejudice under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) inasmuch as "the outcome of McDonald's trial would have been the same, with or without the remarks from the state in its closing argument." As the Circuit Court soundly explained:

ISSUE XIII PROSECUTOR COMMENT

Mr. McDonald says his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to an improper closing argument by the state that McDonald knew where the murder weapon was and that he came out of the victim's apartment by himself. Susan Shore testified at trial that Gordon came back to the car first and that McDonald followed about 5 to 10 minutes later. There was a lake behind the doctor's apartment.

It was the state's theory that McDonald and Gordon had killed the doctor when they were in his apartment on the morning of January 25th, 1994. The medical examiner opined that although the cause of death was drowning, the victim had also been hit on the head by a blunt instrument. That blunt instrument was never found. the defendants' closing arguments, their counsel argued that neither of them had returned to the car with anything that looked like a murder weapon, and that no murder weapon had been found matching the description of the mark V 34, T 2070-2071. on the victim's head. The state argued in their closing argument that based on the evidence, a reasonable hypothesis was that since McDonald had been the last to come back to the car, and he had come

from behind the apartment, that he had disposed of the murder weapon in the lake. The state also pointed out that the murder weapon might have been a large camera that was found to be missing from the victim's apartment but was never found. V 34, T 2114-2116. Lawyers, including state attorneys, are allowed to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence. And lawyers, including state attorneys, are entitled to respond to a defendant's argument, which is called invited response.

The Florida Supreme Court has already determined on direct appeal that there was no fundamental error in the prosecutor's closing argument. McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 and n. 9. Neither was McDonald's counsel deficient for failing to object to this closing argument, which he had invited. Even if McDonald's counsel should have objected, the defendant cannot meet the prejudice prong of Strickland. The outcome of McDonald's trial would have been the same, with or without the remarks from the state in its closing argument. Issue XIII is denied.

(PCR V13/2333-2335)

At trial, the State's closing argument was responsive to co-defendant Gordon's prior closing arguments that neither Gordon nor McDonald was observed with a weapon when they returned to the car driven by Susan Shore, and that no weapon was found matching the description of the mark on the victim's head. See, V34/T2070-2071. Following the defense closing, the prosecutor then fairly responded, based on the evidence presented at trial, that Shore had testified that McDonald returned to the car after Gordon and from the area behind the victim's apartment. Thus, he might have thrown the weapon into the lake behind the victim's apartment. The State also pointed out the reasonable inference that the murder weapon could have

been a large camera that was missing from the victim's apartment. (V34/T2114-2116) The State's argument in closing was invited response and a proper comment from the evidence. See, Caballero v. State, 851 So. 2d 655, 660 (Fla. 2003). As in co-defendant Gordon's case, McDonald's trial counsel was not ineffective for failure to make a futile objection. See, Gordon II, 863 So. 2d at 1219 (holding that "Since counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for pursuing futile motions, trial counsel cannot be deemed to have performed deficiently") McDonald's post-conviction IAC/prosecutor comment claim was correctly denied below. CCRC's IAC/prosecutor comment claim is procedurally barred and, alternatively, without merit.

ISSUE IV

THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIMS CONCERNING FBI AGENT VICK AND BLOODSTAIN "DNA" EVIDENCE. (As restated by Appellee, State)

this post-conviction issue, CCRC asserts a hybrid Brady/Giglio legal claim. However, McDonald did not assert a specified legal claim under Brady or Giglio in his pro se postconviction motion. Accordingly, CCRC's current legal claim is procedurally barred. However, CCRC does include some factual allegations which were alleged in McDonald's pro se supplemental motion before the Circuit Court on the underlying "bloodstain" evidence claim. (Amended Initial Brief of Appellant at 45). Specifically, McDonald asserted below: "(A) That Agent Michael Vick never conducted the DNA tests. (B) That Agent Michael Vick had no training in DNA tests. (C) That Agent Michael Vick was not a DNA expert. (D) That no DNA match of the victim's blood were [sic] found on the gray sweatshirt." (PCR V9/1482-1483) The Circuit Court denied these claims in post-conviction issue VI (bloodstain evidence), which is now CCRC's appellate issue VII. Accordingly, the State will address CCRC's claims regarding the DNA testing and Agent Vick in issue VII of the instant brief.

⁹ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972).

ISSUE V

THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO SEEK SUPPRESSION OF THE DEFENDANT'S HAIR EVIDENCE. (As restated by Appellee, State)

In this case, records presented at trial established that Gordon and McDonald stayed at the Days Inn in Tampa several times before the murder and finally on the day of the murder. (V28/T1054-65, 1071-77, 1110-13, 1129-36) When they checked out on January 26, 1995, they left behind a sweatshirt and a pair of tennis shoes. These clothes were analyzed for blood, hair and fiber matches. (V23/T468-69; V26/T840-43; V29/T1223-27, 1256-77) McDonald's sweatshirt contained fibers from Dr. Davidson's carpet and Deninno's cashmere belt as well as hairs that matched McDonald's hair. The victim's blood sample matched the DNA found in stains on the sweatshirt. (V29/T1166, 1227-31)

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